FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 (FOIA)/ENVIRONMENTAL INFORMATION REGULATIONS 2004 (EIR)
· Bus shelter contract
Your request for information has now been considered and the Council’s response to your questions is shown below.

You asked:

a),- Are details of the contract signed subject to corporate confidentiality? If so, why? 
Although some aspects of the contract are published such as the start/end date and contractor name, the contract does contain data which is commercially sensitive and remains confidential. 
This information is exempt under the provisions of FOIA Section 43(2) and EIR Regulation 12(5)(e) - Commercial Interests and the confidentiality of commercial or industrial information where such confidentiality is provided by law to protect a legitimate economic interest, respectively. This letter acts as a statutory refusal notice required by Section 17(1) of the FOIA Act and Regulation 14 of the EIR.  

Disclosure of this information would, or would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of any person (including the authority holding it).
The public aspects of the contract will be published in March 2021 and can be found in the Council’s contract register at:
https://data.leicester.gov.uk/explore/?q=contracts&sort=modified&refine.keyword=Contracts
This information is therefore exempt as it is intended for future publication in line, or it is reasonable to make the information available in another form and format respectively in line with the provisions of with Section 22 of the FOIA and Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the EIR.  
b),- What steps were taken to consult the general public and relevant Members (particularly of the Economic Development, Transport & Tourism scrutiny panel) prior to this contract being signed with Clear Channel? 
The bus shelter procurement was included at the outset of the process on the Council’s 2016/17 Procurement Plan that was available in the public domain and reported to the Economic Development Transport and Tourism Scrutiny Commission:
http://www.cabinet.leicester.gov.uk:8071/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=741&MId=6941&Ver=4
c),- The contract length is ten years. Are there penalties for early termination thereof? If so, what are the details thereof? Does the Council have any right of withdrawal at all? 
There are penalties for early termination and details of early termination penalties are exempt from disclosure under the provisions of FOIA Section 43(2) and EIR Regulation 12(5)(e) - Commercial Interests and the confidentiality of commercial or industrial information where such confidentiality is provided by law to protect a legitimate economic interest, respectively.. This letter acts as a statutory refusal notice required by Section 17(1) of the FOIA Act and Regulation 14 of the EIR, namely information is not held at time of request.  

It is judged here that disclosure of this information would, or would be likely to, prejudice the commercial interests of any person (including the authority holding it).

d),- Clear Channel is replacing the bus shelters themselves gratis, but as a for-profit corporation is clearly hoping for a financial return. What rate, approximately, is the expected annual return?  
Approximate annual return is not held by the Council and this therefore is a refusal in accordance with Section 1(1) of the FOIA and Reg. 2(4)(a) of the EIR, namely the information not held by Leicester City Council at time of request.

e),- Further to the above, did the Council consider taking such public transportation infrastructure in-house and managing advertising in-house also? If not, why not? 
The Council did consider taking this service in house however this was rejected principally on purchase and maintenance cost grounds and also the council lacked the operational and advertising expertise. 
f)- What is the potential chilling effect of this contract on the Council's power to enact byelaws or regulate public space? 
There is no impact identified on the Council’s power to enact bylaws or regulate public space as a consequence of the contract. In practice equipment locations are agreed with the council taking into account any issues relating to management of the public realm.
Clear Channel has indicated that some of the new advertising screens will be digital - given that bright screens and changing imagery are proven to be distracting to pedestrians and road users alike, were the Council to take action against such distractions, would this open us to potential legal action by Clear Channel towards Leicester City Council for causing a loss of profit, or potential loss of profit? 
Illuminated and non-illuminated advertising requires planning permission, which includes consideration of highway matters such as safety. 
Information regarding the potential for legal action by Clear Channel against Leicester City Council is information not held and this therefore is a refusal in accordance with Section 1(1) of the FOIA and Reg.12(4)(a) of the EIR, information not held by Leicester City Council at the time of request.  
If you are dissatisfied with the handling of your request, please write, explaining your grounds of appeal, to: 

Internal Review

Information Governance & Risk
Email: info.requests@leicester.gov.uk
